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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CARTER’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019

ASSETS      

Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 831,175  $ 214,311  $ 153,936
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $7,675, $6,354, $4,591,
respectively 263,231  251,005  293,203
Finished goods inventories, net of inventory reserves of $30,053, $9,283, and
$19,583, respectively 646,608  593,987  723,242

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 56,493  48,454  53,264

Total current assets 1,797,507  1,107,757  1,223,645
Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $576,123,
$523,848, and $504,833, respectively 274,574  320,168  330,371

Operating lease assets 619,057  687,024  709,523

Tradenames, net 307,955  334,642  334,705

Goodwill 209,507  229,026  228,235

Customer relationships, net 38,147  41,126  41,890

Other assets 34,874  33,374  31,211

Total assets $ 3,281,621  $ 2,753,117  $ 2,899,580

      
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY      

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable $ 473,473  $ 183,641  $ 205,782

Current operating lease liabilities 172,364  160,228  158,524

Other current liabilities 115,069  131,631  119,862

Total current liabilities 760,906  475,500  484,168
      
Long-term debt, net 989,086  594,672  769,525

Deferred income taxes 60,160  74,370  78,916

Long-term operating lease liabilities 587,099  664,372  691,717

Other long-term liabilities 62,489  64,073  62,520

Total liabilities $ 2,459,740  $ 1,872,987  $ 2,086,846
      
Commitments and contingencies - Note 14   
      
Stockholders' equity:      
Preferred stock; par value $.01 per share; 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding at September 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and September 28, 2019 $ —  $ —  $ —
Common stock, voting; par value $.01 per share; 150,000,000 shares authorized;
43,648,671, 43,963,103 and 44,287,636 shares issued and outstanding at September
26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and September 28, 2019, respectively 436  440  443

Additional paid-in capital 9,258  —  —

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (41,402)  (35,634)  (38,908)

Retained earnings 853,589  915,324  851,199

Total stockholders' equity 821,881  880,130  812,734

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 3,281,621  $ 2,753,117  $ 2,899,580

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTER’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

 September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Net sales $ 865,080  $ 943,322  $ 2,034,437  $ 2,418,764

Cost of goods sold 483,333  540,808  1,170,778  1,376,336
Adverse purchase commitments (inventory and raw materials),
net (1,968)  303  16,166  1,354

Gross profit 383,715  402,211  847,493  1,041,074

Royalty income, net 9,063  9,192  19,989  27,371

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 279,251  296,733  767,237  828,540

Goodwill impairment —  —  17,742  —

Intangible asset impairment —  30,800  26,500  30,800

Operating income 113,527  83,870  56,003  209,105

Interest expense 16,347  9,966  40,523  28,667

Interest income (330)  (200)  (1,217)  (937)

Other (income) expense, net (2,758)  483  2,647  474

Loss on extinguishment of debt —  —  —  7,823

Income before income taxes 100,268  73,621  14,050  173,078

Income tax provision 19,027  13,369  3,347  34,423

Net income $ 81,241  $ 60,252  $ 10,703  $ 138,655

        
Basic net income per common share $ 1.86  $ 1.35  $ 0.25  $ 3.08

Diluted net income per common share $ 1.85  $ 1.34  $ 0.24  $ 3.06

Dividend declared and paid per common share $ —  $ 0.50  $ 0.60  $ 1.50

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTER’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

 September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Net income $ 81,241  $ 60,252  $ 10,703  $ 138,655

Other comprehensive income (loss):        
Foreign currency translation adjustments 3,643  (2,347)  (5,768)  3,431

Comprehensive income $ 84,884  $ 57,905  $ 4,935  $ 142,086

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTER’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(amounts in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)

 
Common stock

- shares  
Common
stock - $  

Additional
paid-in
capital  

Accumulated other
comprehensive

loss  
Retained
earnings  

Total
stockholders’

equity

Balance at December 29, 2018 45,629,014  $ 456  $ —  $ (40,839)  $ 909,816  $ 869,433

Exercise of stock options 72,192  1  4,779  —  —  4,780
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (43,844)  —  (4,077)  —  —  (4,077)

Restricted stock activity 182,722  2  (2)  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  4,613  —  —  4,613

Repurchase of common stock (460,257)  (5)  (5,313)  —  (34,648)  (39,966)

Cash dividends declared and paid —  —  —  —  (22,756)  (22,756)

Comprehensive income —  —  —  2,911  34,466  37,377

Reclassification of tax effects(*) —  —  —  (1,500)  1,500  —

Balance at March 30, 2019 45,379,827  $ 454  $ —  $ (39,428)  $ 888,378  $ 849,404

Exercise of stock options 26,264  —  1,566  —  —  1,566
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (505)  —  (49)  —  —  (49)

Restricted stock activity 8,597  —  —  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  5,194  —  —  5,194

Repurchase of common stock (545,620)  (5)  (6,711)  —  (45,761)  (52,477)

Cash dividends declared and paid —  —  —  —  (22,545)  (22,545)

Comprehensive income —  —  —  2,867  43,937  46,804

Balance at June 29, 2019 44,868,563  $ 449  $ —  $ (36,561)  $ 864,009  $ 827,897

Exercise of stock options 8,490  —  535  —  —  535
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (1,013)  —  (88)  —  —  (88)

Restricted stock activity 13,639  —  —  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  3,733  —  —  3,733

Repurchase of common stock (602,043)  (6)  (4,180)  —  (50,835)  (55,021)

Cash dividends declared and paid —  —  —  —  (22,227)  (22,227)

Comprehensive income —  —  —  (2,347)  60,252  57,905

Balance at September 28, 2019 44,287,636  $ 443  $ —  $ (38,908)  $ 851,199  $ 812,734

(*) The Company reclassified $1.5 million of tax benefits from "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" to "Retained earnings" for the tax effects resulting from the December 22, 2017
enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in accordance with the adoption of ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in the
first quarter of fiscal 2019.
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Common stock

- shares  
Common
stock - $  

Additional
paid-in
capital  

Accumulated other
comprehensive

loss  
Retained
earnings  

Total
stockholders’

equity

Balance at December 28, 2019 43,963,103  $ 440  $ —  $ (35,634)  $ 915,324  $ 880,130

Exercise of stock options 33,158  —  1,840  —  —  1,840
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (43,611)  —  (4,712)  —  —  (4,712)

Restricted stock activity 132,759  1  (1)  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  1,945  —  —  1,945

Repurchase of common stock (474,684)  (5)  928  —  (46,178)  (45,255)

Cash dividends declared and paid —  —  —  —  (26,260)  (26,260)

Comprehensive loss —  —  —  (12,992)  (78,694)  (91,686)

Balance at March 28, 2020 43,610,725  $ 436  $ —  $ (48,626)  $ 764,192  $ 716,002

Exercise of stock options 14,180  —  1,076  —  —  1,076
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (1,016)  —  (77)  —  —  (77)

Restricted stock activity 12,287  —  —  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  4,540  —  —  4,540

Comprehensive income —  —  —  3,581  8,156  11,737

Balance at June 27, 2020 43,636,176  $ 436  $ 5,539  $ (45,045)  $ 772,348  $ 733,278

Exercise of stock options 12,811  —  812  —  —  812
Withholdings from vesting 
of restricted stock (1,744)  —  (139)  —  —  (139)

Restricted stock activity 1,428  —  —  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  3,046  —  —  3,046

Comprehensive income —  —  —  3,643  81,241  84,884

Balance at September 26, 2020 43,648,671  $ 436  $ 9,258  $ (41,402)  $ 853,589  $ 821,881

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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CARTER’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

 Three fiscal quarters ended

 September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net income $ 10,703  $ 138,655

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment 66,985  68,005

Amortization of intangible assets 2,784  2,810

Provisions for (recoveries of) excess and obsolete inventory 20,912  4,567

Goodwill impairment 17,742  —

Intangible asset impairments 26,500  30,800

Other asset impairments and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net of recoveries 9,395  407

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,641  1,087

Stock-based compensation expense 9,531  13,540

Unrealized foreign currency exchange loss, net 1,354  176

Provisions for (recoveries of) doubtful accounts receivable from customers 7,702  (2,063)

Loss on extinguishment of debt —  7,823

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (16,697)  8,300

Effect of changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable (21,576)  (32,792)

Finished goods inventories (76,739)  (152,023)

Prepaid expenses and other assets (7,660)  (16,688)

Accounts payable and other liabilities 267,551  751

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 320,128  $ 73,355

    
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Capital expenditures $ (25,212)  $ (46,138)

Disposals and recoveries from property, plant, and equipment —  749

Net cash used in investing activities $ (25,212)  $ (45,389)

    
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Proceeds from senior notes due 2025 $ 500,000  $ —

Proceeds from senior notes due 2027 —  500,000

Payment of senior notes due 2021 —  (400,000)

Premiums paid to extinguish debt —  (5,252)

Payment of debt issuance costs (7,639)  (5,793)

Borrowings under secured revolving credit facility 644,000  265,000

Payments on secured revolving credit facility (744,000)  (186,000)

Repurchases of common stock (45,255)  (147,464)

Dividends paid (26,260)  (67,528)

Withholdings from vestings of restricted stock (4,928)  (4,214)

Proceeds from exercises of stock options 3,728  6,881

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 319,646  $ (44,370)

    
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,302  263

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 616,864  $ (16,141)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 214,311  170,077

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 831,175  $ 153,936

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CARTER’S, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unaudited)

NOTE 1 – THE COMPANY

Carter's, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company," "its," "us" and "our") design, source, and market branded childrenswear and
accessories under the Carter's, OshKosh B'gosh ("OshKosh"), Skip Hop, Child of Mine, Just One You, Simple Joys, Precious Baby, Little Planet, and other
brands. The Company's products are sourced through contractual arrangements with manufacturers worldwide for: 1) wholesale distribution to leading
department stores, national chains, and specialty retailers domestically and internationally and 2) distribution to the Company's own retail stores and
eCommerce sites that market its brand name merchandise and other licensed products manufactured by other companies.

NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all normal and recurring adjustments
necessary to state fairly the consolidated financial condition, results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), statement of stockholders' equity, and cash
flows of the Company for the interim periods presented. Except as otherwise disclosed, all such adjustments consist only of those of a normal recurring
nature. Operating results for the fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the current
fiscal year ending January 2, 2021.

The preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

The accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 28, 2019 was derived from the Company's audited consolidated financial
statements included in its most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain information and footnote disclosure normally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC and the instructions
to Form 10-Q.

Revision of Previously Issued Financial Statements

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2020, it was determined that there were amounts presented incorrectly in the statement of cash flows for the annual
and interim year to date periods subsequent to the December 30, 2018 adoption of ASC 842, Leases, due to the presentation of the non-cash impact of the
initial and subsequent recognition of the Right of Use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities within the "Prepaid expenses and other assets" and "Accounts
payable and other liabilities" line items, respectively, within operating cash flows. This incorrect presentation had no impact on net cash (used in) provided
by operating activities for any of the periods. We assessed the materiality of the incorrect presentation and concluded that the previously issued financial
statements were not materially misstated. The presentation errors resulted in an offsetting overstatement of cash used for prepaid expenses and other assets
and cash provided by accounts payable and other liabilities of $739 million, $773 million and $815 million for the three, six and nine-months ended March
30, 2019, June 29, 2019 and September 28, 2019, respectively, $828 million for the year ended December 28, 2019 and $29 million for the three months
ended March 28, 2020. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of cash flows appropriately reflect the corrected presentation of
these non-cash activities. In addition, the Company has reclassified and will reclassify prior comparable period amounts to present ROU asset amortization
and lease liability payment activity on a net basis within the "Accounts payable and other liabilities" line item. The revisions to the year ended December
31, 2019 and three months ended March 31, 2020 will be presented in future Forms 10-Q and 10-K filings. We will continue to provide supplemental
noncash cash flow disclosure information in the notes to the financial statements, as well as correct for the omission of such disclosure during the 2019
interim periods in connection with our 2020 quarterly filings.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

COVID-19

In December 2019, an outbreak of a new strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19") began in Wuhan, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization
declared COVID-19 a pandemic and the President of the United States declared a national emergency. As a result of COVID-19, the Company temporarily
closed its retail stores in North America and implemented several actions during fiscal 2020 to enhance liquidity and financial flexibility including the
deferral of lease payments, reductions in discretionary spending, amending its revolving credit facility, issuing $500 million principal amount of senior
notes, and suspending dividends and share repurchases.

Beginning in April 2020, the Company suspended rent payments under the leases for our temporarily closed stores in North America and has been in
discussions with landlords to obtain rent concessions. The Company considered the Financial Accounting Standards Board's ("FASB") recent guidance
regarding lease concessions as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and has elected to treat these rent concessions as lease modifications. As
of September 26, 2020, lease modifications resulting from COVID-19 related rent concessions were not material to the financial statements. The Company
continues to negotiate lease concessions with landlords. As of the end of the fiscal quarter, the Company resumed making the required rent payments under
these leases.

See Note 4, Leases, for further details on deferral of rent payments under these leases.

On May 4, 2020, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, The William Carter Company ("TWCC"), successfully amended its revolving credit
facility. This amendment provided for, among other things, a waiver of financial covenants through the balance of fiscal year 2020, revised covenant
requirements through the third quarter of fiscal year 2021, and the ability to raise additional unsecured financing at the Company’s discretion. Additionally,
on May 11, 2020, TWCC issued $500 million principal amount of senior notes at par, bearing interest at a rate of 5.500% per annum, and maturing on May
15, 2025. See Note 8, Long-Term Debt, for further details on the amendment to the revolving credit facility and the issuance of $500 million principal
amount of senior notes.

The Company announced in the first half of fiscal 2020, that in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, it suspended its common stock share repurchase
program and its quarterly cash dividend. The Company's Board of Directors will evaluate future capital distributions, including dividend declarations,
based on a number of factors, including restrictions under our revolving credit facility, business conditions, our financial performance, and other
considerations.

The Company also assessed certain accounting matters that generally require consideration of forecasted financial information in context with the
information reasonably available to us and the unknown future impacts of COVID-19 as of September 26, 2020 and through the date of this report filing.
The accounting matters assessed included, but were not limited to, our allowance for credit losses, inventory reserves, adverse inventory and fabric
purchase commitments, stock based compensation, and the carrying value of our goodwill and other long-lived assets. Based on these assessments, in the
third quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company recorded impairments on operating lease assets and other long-lived assets for our underperforming retail stores
of $1.7 million, and a benefit in excess inventory and fabric purchase commitment charges of $8.5 million related to better than expected sales of inventory
that were reserved for in the first fiscal quarter of 2020 due to COVID-19 related disruptions. For the three fiscal quarters ending September 26, 2020, the
Company recorded impairments on operating lease assets and other long-lived assets for our underperforming retail stores of $6.7 million, incremental
inventory reserve related charges of $20.9 million, adverse inventory and fabric purchase commitments of $16.2 million, intangible asset impairments of
$26.5 million, and goodwill impairment of $17.7 million. There could be a further material impact to our consolidated financial statements in future
reporting periods if, at a future date, the Company determines that these assessments of the magnitude and duration of COVID-19, as well as other factors,
were incorrect.

Additional COVID-19 related charges in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 were $3.3 million, which primarily included costs associated with additional
protective equipment and cleaning supplies of $2.5 million. COVID-19 related charges for the three fiscal quarters ending September 26, 2020 were $18.8
million, which primarily included incremental payroll continuation and employee related costs of $12.1 million, costs associated with additional protective
equipment and cleaning supplies of $6.8 million, and restructuring costs of $2.3 million, partially offset by a payroll tax benefit of $3.5 million.

Accounting Policies

The accounting policies the Company follows are set forth in its most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no material changes to
these accounting policies. New accounting pronouncements adopted at the beginning of fiscal 2020 are noted below.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Credit Losses (ASU 2016-13)

At the beginning of fiscal 2020, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic
326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). This new guidance changed how entities account for credit impairment
for trade and other receivables, as well as for certain financial assets and other instruments. ASU 2016-13 replaced the previous "incurred loss" model with
an "expected loss" model, that requires an entity to recognize a loss (or allowance) upon initial recognition of the asset that reflects all future events that
will lead to a loss being realized, regardless of whether it is probable that the future event will occur. The Company estimates current expected credit losses
based on collection history and management’s assessment of the current economic trends, business environment, customers’ financial condition, accounts
receivable aging, and customer disputes that may impact the level of future credit losses. The effect of the adoption of ASU 2016-13 was not material to the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill Impairment Testing (ASU 2017-04)

At the beginning of fiscal 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment ("ASU 2017-04"). ASU 2017-04 eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill (step 2 of the current goodwill
impairment test) to measure a goodwill impairment charge. Instead, entities will record an impairment charge based on the excess of a reporting unit's
carrying amount over its fair value (i.e., measure the charge based on the current step 1). Any impairment charge will be limited to the amount of goodwill
allocated to an impacted reporting unit. ASU 2017-04 does not change the current guidance for completing step 1 of the goodwill impairment test, and an
entity can still perform the current optional qualitative goodwill impairment assessment before determining whether to proceed to step 1. The effect of the
adoption of ASU 2017-04 had no impact to the Company's consolidated financial statements. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company
conducted an interim quantitative impairment assessment on the goodwill ascribed to the Other International reporting unit. As a result of this assessment
and based on the application of ASU 2017-04, a goodwill impairment charge of $17.7 million was recorded to our Other International reporting unit. See
Note 6, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for further details on the impairment charge and valuation methodology.

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740)

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes ("ASU 2019-12"), as part
of its overall simplification initiative to reduce costs and complexity of applying accounting standards while maintaining or improving the usefulness of the
information provided to users of financial statements. Amendments include removal of certain exceptions to the general principles of Topic 740, "Income
Taxes," and simplification in several other areas. ASU 2019-12 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim
periods therein, with early adoption permitted. The Company elected to early adopt this guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2020. The Company
retrospectively adopted the provision related to the classification of taxes partially based on income and has determined that the adoption of this standard
did not have a material impact on its prior period financial statements. The provisions related to intra period tax allocation and interim recognition of
enactment of tax laws are being adopted on a prospective basis. The effect of the adoption of ASU 2019-12 was not material to the Company's consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 3 - REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company’s revenues are earned from contracts or arrangements with retail and wholesale customers and licensees. Contracts include written
agreements as well as arrangements that are implied by customary practices or law.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company sells its products directly to consumers ("direct-to-consumer") and to other retail companies and partners that subsequently sell the products
directly to their own retail customers. The Company also earns royalties from certain of its licensees. Disaggregated revenues from these sources for the
third quarter and three quarters ended fiscal 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

  Fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020

(dollars in thousands)  U.S. Retail  U.S. Wholesale  International  Total

Wholesale channel  $ —  $ 302,135  $ 37,838  $ 339,973

Direct-to-consumer  449,150  —  75,957  525,107

  $ 449,150  $ 302,135  $ 113,795  $ 865,080

         
Royalty income  $ 3,902  $ 3,986  $ 1,175  $ 9,063

  Three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020

(dollars in thousands)  U.S. Retail  U.S. Wholesale  International  Total

Wholesale channel  $ —  $ 706,009  $ 92,110  $ 798,119

Direct-to-consumer  1,085,883  —  150,435  1,236,318

  $ 1,085,883  $ 706,009  $ 242,545  $ 2,034,437

Royalty income  $ 7,648  $ 9,576  $ 2,765  $ 19,989

  Fiscal quarter ended September 28, 2019

(dollars in thousands)  U.S. Retail  U.S. Wholesale  International  Total

Wholesale channel  $ —  $ 352,256  $ 56,101  $ 408,357

Direct-to-consumer  464,100  —  70,865  534,965

  $ 464,100  $ 352,256  $ 126,966  $ 943,322

         
Royalty income  $ 4,244  $ 4,038  $ 910  $ 9,192

  Three fiscal quarters ended September 28, 2019

(dollars in thousands)  U.S. Retail  U.S. Wholesale  International  Total

Wholesale channel  $ —  $ 856,713  $ 121,631  $ 978,344

Direct-to-consumer  1,264,283  —  176,137  1,440,420

  $ 1,264,283  $ 856,713  $ 297,768  $ 2,418,764

Royalty income  $ 10,688  $ 14,051  $ 2,632  $ 27,371
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Accounts Receivable from Customers and Licensees

The components of Accounts receivable, net, were as follows:

(dollars in thousands)  September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019

Trade receivables from wholesale customers, net(1)  $ 255,214  $ 239,059  $ 277,234

Royalties receivable  8,596  6,982  9,128

Tenant allowances and other receivables  12,064  16,247  16,281

Total gross receivables  $ 275,874  $ 262,288  $ 302,643

Less:       
Wholesale accounts receivable reserves(2)  (12,643)  (11,283)  (9,440)

Accounts receivable, net(1)  $ 263,231  $ 251,005  $ 293,203

(1) The Company reclassified $1.7 million and $1.3 million of customer support related items from Wholesale accounts receivable reserves into Trade receivables from wholesale customers,
net for the periods ended December 28, 2019 and September 28, 2019, respectively.

(2) Includes allowance for credit losses of $7.7 million, $6.4 million, and $4.6 million for the periods ended September 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and September 28, 2019, respectively.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

The Company's contract assets are not material.

Contract Liabilities
The Company recognizes a contract liability when it has received consideration from a customer and has a future obligation to transfer goods to the
customer. Total contract liabilities consisted of the following amounts:        

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019

Contract liabilities - current:    
Unredeemed gift cards $ 15,977  $ 17,563  $ 14,264

Unredeemed customer loyalty rewards 5,510  5,615  5,109

Carter's credit card - upfront bonus(1) 714  714  714

Total contract liabilities - current(2) $ 22,201  $ 23,892  $ 20,087

(1) Carter's credit card - upfront bonus - the Company received an upfront signing bonus from a third-party financial institution, which will be recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis
over the term of the agreement. This amount reflects the current portion of this bonus to be recognized as revenue over the next twelve months.

(2) Included with Other current liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 4 - LEASES

The Company has operating leases for retail stores, distribution centers, corporate offices, data centers, and certain equipment. The Company's leases
generally have initial terms ranging from 1 year to 10 years, some of which may include options to extend the leases for up to 5 years, and some of which
may include options to early terminate the lease.

As of September 26, 2020, the Company's finance leases were not material to the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations, or
statements of cash flows.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, during the second quarter of fiscal 2020 the Company suspended rent payments under the leases for our
temporarily closed stores in North America. The Company has continued to recognize expense and has established an accrual for the fixed rent payments
that were not made. As of September 26, 2020, the Company accrued $31.8 million in fixed rent payments. The accrued rent is included within Accounts
payable on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. As of the end of the fiscal quarter, the Company resumed making the required rent payments under
these leases.

In the third quarter and for the three quarters of fiscal 2020, the Company recorded operating lease asset impairment charges totaling $1.4 million and $6.1
million, respectively, related to underperforming stores primarily as a result of decreased net revenues and cash flow projections resulting from the
COVID-19 disruption and other facility and office closures. See Note 11, Fair Value Measurements, for further details on the fair value calculations for
operating lease assets for the retail stores.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following components of lease expense are included in Selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statements of
operations for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and 2019:

  Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

(dollars in thousands)  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Operating lease cost  $ 44,230  $ 45,584  $ 136,180  $ 133,491

Variable lease cost (*)  19,635  15,492  55,139  46,692

Net lease cost  $ 63,865  $ 61,076  $ 191,319  $ 180,183

(*) Includes operating lease asset impairment charges, and short-term leases which are immaterial.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:

  Fiscal quarter ended

  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Weighted average remaining operating lease term (years)  5.6  6.1

Weighted average discount rate for operating leases  3.71%  4.39%

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities in the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was $41.6 million
and $139.4 million, respectively. The total cash paid reflects the contractual amounts due to be paid in cash, which includes the suspended rent payments
under the leases for our temporarily closed stores. For the three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020, the Company deferred cash payments of $31.8
million, which are included in the statement of cash flows as part of the change in Accounts payable and other liabilities.

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities in the third quarter and three quarters of fiscal 2019 was $48.5 million and
$143.7 million, respectively.

Non-cash transactions to recognize operating assets and liabilities for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 were $7.3 million and $52.5
million, respectively. Non-cash transactions to recognize operating assets and liabilities for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019 were
$41.6 million and $96.0 million, respectively.

As of September 26, 2020, the maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

(dollars in thousands) Operating leases

Remainder of 2020 $ 48,575
2021 194,335
2022 158,594
2023 130,414
2024 105,059
2025 76,501
After 2025 128,220

Total lease payments $ 841,698

Less: Interest (82,235)

Present value of lease liabilities(*) $ 759,463

(*) As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date to determine the present value of
lease payments. We used the incremental borrowing rate on December 30, 2018, for operating leases that commenced prior to that date.

As of September 26, 2020, the minimum rental commitments for additional operating lease contracts that have not yet commenced, primarily for retail
stores, are $11.0 million. These operating leases will commence between fiscal year 2021 and fiscal year 2023 with lease terms of 6 years to 11 years.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 5 – ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The components of Accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following:

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments $ (32,290)  $ (26,522)  $ (29,533)

Pension and post-retirement obligations(*) (9,112)  (9,112)  (9,375)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (41,402)  $ (35,634)  $ (38,908)

(*) Net of income taxes of $2.8 million, $2.8 million, and $2.9 million for the period ended September 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and September 28, 2019, respectively.

During the first three quarters of both fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019, no amounts were reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss to the
statement of operations.

NOTE 6 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The balances and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each segment were as follows:

(dollars in thousands) U.S. Retail  U.S. Wholesale  International  Total

Balance at December 29, 2018 $ 83,934  $ 74,454  $ 68,713  $ 227,101

Foreign currency impact —  —  1,134  1,134

Balance at September 28, 2019 $ 83,934  $ 74,454  $ 69,847  $ 228,235

        
Balance at December 28, 2019 $ 83,934  $ 74,454  $ 70,638  $ 229,026

Goodwill impairment(*) —  —  (17,742)  (17,742)

Foreign currency impact —  —  (1,777)  (1,777)

Balance at September 26, 2020 $ 83,934  $ 74,454  $ 51,119  $ 209,507

(*) In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, a charge of $17.7 million was recorded to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the goodwill in the Other International reporting unit in the
International segment.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A summary of the carrying value of the Company's intangible assets were as follows:

   September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019

(dollars in thousands)

Weighted-
average useful

life  Gross amount  
Accumulated
amortization  Net amount  

Gross
amount  

Accumulated
amortization  Net amount

Carter's tradename Indefinite  $ 220,233  $ —  $ 220,233  $ 220,233  $ —  $ 220,233

OshKosh tradename(1) Indefinite  70,000  —  70,000  85,500  —  85,500

Skip Hop tradename(2) Indefinite  15,000  —  15,000  26,000  —  26,000

Finite-life tradenames 5-20 years  3,911  1,189  2,722  3,911  1,002  2,909

Total tradenames, net   $ 309,144 $ 1,189  $ 307,955  $ 335,644  $ 1,002  $ 334,642

              
Skip Hop customer relationships 15 years  $ 47,300  $ 11,039  $ 36,261  $ 47,300  $ 8,657  $ 38,643

Carter's Mexico customer relationships 10 years  2,875  989  1,886  3,258  775  2,483

Total customer relationships, net   $ 50,175  $ 12,028  $ 38,147  $ 50,558  $ 9,432  $ 41,126

   September 28, 2019

(dollars in thousands)
Weighted-average

useful life  
Gross

amount  
Accumulated
amortization  Net amount

Carter's tradename Indefinite  $ 220,233  $ —  $ 220,233

OshKosh tradename Indefinite  85,500  —  85,500

Skip Hop tradename(3) Indefinite  26,000  —  26,000

Finite-life tradenames 5-20 years  3,911  939  2,972

Total tradenames, net   $ 335,644  $ 939  $ 334,705

        
Skip Hop customer relationships 15 years  $ 47,300  $ 7,863  $ 39,437

Carter's Mexico customer relationships 10 years  3,148  695  2,453

Total customer relationships, net   $ 50,448  $ 8,558  $ 41,890

(1) In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, a charge of $13.6 million, $1.6 million, and $0.3 million was recorded on our indefinite-lived OshKosh tradename asset in the U.S. Retail, U.S. Wholesale,
and International segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the indefinite-lived OshKosh tradename asset.

(2) In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, a charge of $6.8 million, $3.7 million, and $0.5 million was recorded on our indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset in the U.S. Wholesale, International,
and U.S. Retail segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset.

(3) In the third quarter of fiscal 2019, a charge of $19.1 million, $10.5 million, and $1.2 million was recorded on our indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset in the U.S. Wholesale,
International, and U.S. Retail segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset.

The carrying values of goodwill and indefinite-lived tradename assets are subject to annual impairment reviews as of the last day of each fiscal year.
Between annual assessments, impairment reviews may also be triggered by any significant events or changes in circumstances affecting our business. Due
to the decrease in the Company's market capitalization, lower than expected actual sales, and lower projected sales and profitability, primarily due to the
impacts from the outbreak of COVID-19, the Company concluded that impairment indicators existed for the first quarter of fiscal 2020. As a result, during
the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company conducted interim quantitative impairment assessments of 1) the goodwill ascribed to the Other International
reporting unit recorded in connection with the allocation of goodwill to the newly created International segment as a result of the acquisition of Bonnie
Togs in 2011 and 2) on the value of the Company's indefinite-lived OshKosh and Skip Hop tradename assets that was recorded in connection with the
acquisition of OshKosh B'Gosh Inc. in July 2005 and Skip Hop Holdings, Inc. in February 2017, respectively.

The goodwill impairment assessment for the Other International reporting unit was performed in accordance with ASC 350, "Intangibles--Goodwill and
Other" ("ASC 350") and compares the carrying value of the Other International reporting unit to its fair value. Consistent with prior practice, the fair value
of the Other International reporting unit was determined using discounted cash flows ("income approach") and relevant data from guideline public
companies ("market approach"). As a result of this assessment, a goodwill impairment charge of $17.7 million was recorded to our Other International
reporting unit in the International segment during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. The goodwill impairment charge recorded on our Other International
reporting unit included charges of $9.4 million, $5.2 million, and $3.1 million to Skip Hop, Carter's, and Carter's
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Mexico goodwill, respectively. The carrying value of the Company's goodwill for the Other International reporting unit after the impairment charge and as
of September 26, 2020 was approximately $11.5 million.

The OshKosh and Skip Hop indefinite-lived tradename asset assessments were performed in accordance with ASC 350 and were determined using a
discounted cash flow analysis which examined the hypothetical cost savings that accrue as a result of not having to license the tradename from another
owner. Based on these assessments, charges of $15.5 million and $11.0 million were recorded during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 on our indefinite-lived
OshKosh and Skip Hop tradename assets, respectively. The charge recorded on our indefinite-lived OshKosh tradename asset included charges of $13.6
million, $1.6 million, and $0.3 million in the U.S. Retail, U.S. Wholesale, and International segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value
ascribed to the indefinite-lived OshKosh tradename asset. The charge recorded on our indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset included charges of $6.8
million, $3.7 million, and $0.5 million in the U.S. Wholesale, International, and U.S. Retail segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value
ascribed to the indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset. The carrying values of the Company's indefinite-lived OshKosh and Skip Hop tradename assets
after the impairment charges and as of September 26, 2020 were $70.0 million and $15.0 million, respectively.

There were no impairments of goodwill or indefinite-lived or definite-lived intangible assets during the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Although the Company
determined that no further impairment exists for the Company's goodwill or indefinite-lived or definite-lived intangible assets, these assets could be at risk
for impairment should global economic conditions continue to deteriorate as a result of COVID-19.

Amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization was approximately $0.9 million for both third fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020
and September 28, 2019. Amortization expense was approximately $2.8 million for each of the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and for the first three
quarters of fiscal 2019.

The estimated amortization expense for the next five fiscal years is as follows:

(dollars in thousands)
Amortization

expense

2021 $ 3,702
2022 $ 3,702
2023 $ 3,660
2024 $ 3,630
2025 $ 3,630

NOTE 7 – COMMON STOCK

Open Market Share Repurchases

The total aggregate remaining capacity under outstanding repurchase authorizations as of September 26, 2020 was approximately $650.4 million, based on
settled repurchase transactions. The authorizations have no expiration date.

The Company repurchased and retired shares in open market transactions in the following amounts for the fiscal periods indicated:

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

 September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Number of shares repurchased —  602,043  474,684  1,607,920

Aggregate cost of shares repurchased (dollars in thousands) $ —  $ 55,021  $ 45,255  $ 147,464

Average price per share $ —  $ 91.39  $ 95.34  $ 91.71

On March 26, 2020, the Company announced that, in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, it suspended its common stock share repurchase program.
The timing and amount of any future repurchases will be determined by the Company based on its evaluation of market conditions, share price, other
investment priorities, and other factors.

Dividends

In the first fiscal quarter ended March 28, 2020, the Company declared and paid cash dividends per share of $0.60. On May 1, 2020, in connection with the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Company suspended its quarterly cash dividend. As a result, the
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Company did not declare or pay cash dividends in the third fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020. The Board of Directors will evaluate future dividend
declarations based on a number of factors, including business conditions, the Company's financial performance, and other considerations. In the third fiscal
quarter and three fiscal quarters ended September 28, 2019, the Company declared and paid cash dividends per share of $0.50 and $1.50, respectively.

Provisions in the Company's secured revolving credit facility have the effect of restricting the Company's ability to pay cash dividends on, or make future
repurchases of, its common stock through the date the Company delivers its financial statements and associated certificates relating to the third fiscal
quarter of 2021, and could have the effect of restricting the Company's ability to do so thereafter, as described in the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the 2019 fiscal year ended December 28, 2019, and in Note 8, Long-Term Debt.

NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019
5.500% Senior Notes due 2025 $ 500,000  $ —  $ —
5.625% Senior Notes due 2027 500,000  500,000  500,000
Total senior notes $ 1,000,000  $ 500,000  $ 500,000
Less unamortized issuance-related costs for senior notes (10,914)  (5,328)  (5,475)
      Senior notes, net $ 989,086  $ 494,672  $ 494,525
Secured revolving credit facility —  100,000  275,000

Total long-term debt, net $ 989,086  $ 594,672  $ 769,525

Secured Revolving Credit Facility

To improve the Company's cash position in light of the uncertainty and disruption related to COVID-19, the Company drew $639.0 million under its
secured revolving credit facility in the month of March 2020, and in May 2020 repaid a portion of the outstanding borrowings with the net proceeds of a
new $500 million senior notes offering, as discussed below, and cash on hand. During the third quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company repaid the remainder of
its borrowings under its secured revolving credit facility with cash on hand. As of September 26, 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under
its secured revolving credit facility, exclusive of $7.0 million of outstanding letters of credit. As of September 26, 2020, approximately $743.0 million was
available for future borrowing. All outstanding borrowings under the Company's secured revolving credit facility are classified as non-current liabilities on
the Company's consolidated balance sheets due to contractual repayment terms under the credit facility.

On May 4, 2020, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, The William Carter Company ("TWCC"), entered into Amendment No.2
("Amendment") to its fourth amended and restated credit agreement. This Amendment provided for, among other things, a waiver of financial covenants
through the balance of fiscal year 2020, revised covenant requirements through the third quarter of fiscal year 2021, and the ability to raise additional
unsecured financing, at the Company’s discretion.

Among other things, the Amendment provides that the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and Lease Adjusted Leverage Ratio covenants, in each
case, as defined in the Amendment, are waived during the period from and including the second fiscal quarter of 2020 through and including the fourth
fiscal quarter of 2020. Thereafter, the Lease Adjusted Leverage Ratio is set at 5.50:1.00 for the first fiscal quarter of 2021 and, during the remainder of
2021, gradually steps down to 4.00:1.00 for the fourth fiscal quarter of 2021 and, subject to the consummation of a Material Acquisition (as defined in the
Amendment), thereafter. The Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is set at 1.25:1.00 for the first fiscal quarter of 2021 and, during the remainder of
2021 and, gradually steps back up to 1.85:1.00 for the fourth fiscal quarter of 2021 and, subject to the consummation of a Material Acquisition, thereafter.

In addition, the Amendment provides that during the period from May 4, 2020 through the date the Company delivers its financial statements and
associated certificates relating to the third fiscal quarter of 2021, the Company must maintain a minimum liquidity (defined as cash-on-hand plus
availability under its secured revolving credit facility) on the last day of each fiscal month of at least $700 million. Also, during this period, the availability
of certain exceptions to the lien, investment, indebtedness, and restricted payment negative covenants (including those related to dividend payments and
share repurchases) are limited or removed, and any incremental credit extensions and the possibility of collateral and covenant release periods are
suspended.
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Additionally, the Amendment provides that, among other things during the period from May 4, 2020 through the date the Company delivers its financial
statements and associated certificates relating to the third quarter of fiscal 2021, interest rate margins applicable to the secured revolving credit facility were
initially 2.125% for LIBOR rate loans (which may be adjusted based on a leverage-based pricing grid ranging from 1.125% to 2.375%) and 1.125% for
base rate loans (which may be adjusted based on a leverage-based pricing grid ranging from 0.125% to 1.375%). The Amendment also provides for a
commitment fee initially equal to 0.35% per annum and ranging from 0.15% per annum to 0.40% per annum, based upon a leverage-based pricing grid,
which is payable quarterly in arrears with respect to the average daily unused portion of the revolving loan commitments.

Approximately $1.2 million, including both bank fees and other third party expenses, has been capitalized in connection with the amendment and is being
amortized over the remaining term of the secured revolving credit facility.

The interest rate margins applicable to our secured revolving credit facility as of September 26, 2020 were 1.625% for LIBOR rate loans and 0.625% for
base rate loans. There were no U.S. dollar borrowings or foreign currency borrowings outstanding on September 26, 2020.

As of September 26, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the financial and other covenants under the secured revolving credit facility.

Senior Notes

On May 11, 2020, TWCC issued $500 million principal amount of senior notes at par, bearing interest at a rate of 5.500% per annum, and maturing on May
15, 2025, all of which were outstanding as of September 26, 2020. TWCC received net proceeds from the offering of the senior notes of approximately
$494.5 million, after deducting underwriting fees, which TWCC used to repay borrowings outstanding under the Company's secured revolving credit
facility. Approximately $6.5 million, including both bank fees and other third party expenses, has been capitalized in connection with the issuance and is
being amortized over the term of the senior notes.

Additionally, as of September 26, 2020, the Company had outstanding $500 million principal amount of senior notes at par, bearing interest at a rate of
5.625% per annum, and maturing on March 15, 2027.

NOTE 9 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019

Stock options $ 597  $ 904  $ 2,065  $ 3,146

Restricted stock:        
   Time-based awards 2,449  2,288  7,798  7,034

   Performance-based awards —  299  (1,927)  1,957

   Stock awards —  242  1,595  1,403

Total $ 3,046  $ 3,733  $ 9,531  $ 13,540

The Company recognizes compensation cost ratably over the applicable performance periods based on the estimated probability of achievement of its
performance targets at the end of each period. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the achievement of performance target estimates was revised resulting
in a $2.8 million reversal of previously recognized stock-based compensation expense.

NOTE 10 – INCOME TAXES

As of September 26, 2020, the Company had gross unrecognized income tax benefits of approximately $13.4 million, of which $11.5 million, if ultimately
recognized, may affect the Company's effective income tax rate in the periods settled. The Company has recorded tax positions for which the ultimate
deductibility is more likely than not, but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductions.

Included in the reserves for unrecognized tax benefits at September 26, 2020 is approximately $2.7 million of reserves for which the statute of limitations is
expected to expire within the next 12 months. If these tax benefits are ultimately recognized,
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such recognition, net of federal income taxes, may affect the annual effective income tax rate for fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2021 along with the effective income
tax rate in the quarter in which the benefits are recognized.

The Company recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest expense and recognizes penalties related to unrecognized
income tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. During the third fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020 and September 28, 2019, interest
expense on uncertain tax positions was not material. Interest expense recorded on uncertain tax positions was $0.6 million and $0.7 million for the first
three quarters of fiscal 2020 and the first three quarters of fiscal 2019, respectively. The Company had approximately $2.9 million, $2.3 million, and $2.5
million of interest accrued on uncertain tax positions as of September 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and September 28, 2019, respectively.

The Company early adopted the provisions of ASU 2019-12 in the first quarter of 2020 in order to simplify its income tax accounting disclosures during
2020 as a result of incurring an operating loss. The Company retrospectively adopted the provision related to the classification of taxes partially based on
income and has determined that the adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on its prior period financial statements. The provisions related
to intra period tax allocation and interim recognition of enactment of tax laws are being adopted on a prospective basis.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, ("CARES Act") was signed into law. This law includes several taxpayer
favorable provisions that may impact the Company, including an employee retention credit, relaxed interest expense limitations, a carryback of net
operating losses, accelerated depreciation on certain store build out costs, and the deferral of employer FICA taxes. It is likely that this act will reduce the
Company’s cash requirement for taxes over the balance of fiscal 2020.

NOTE 11 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Investments

The Company invests in marketable securities, principally equity-based mutual funds, to mitigate the risk associated with the investment return on
employee deferrals of compensation. All of the marketable securities are included in Other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, and
their aggregate fair values were approximately $18.9 million, $19.7 million, and $18.2 million at September 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and
September 28, 2019, respectively. These investments are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. Gains on the investments in marketable
securities were $2.5 million and $0.6 million for the third fiscal quarter and three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020, respectively. Gains on the
investments in marketable securities were $0.9 million and $2.5 million for the third fiscal quarter and three fiscal quarters ended September 28, 2019,
respectively. These amounts are included in Other (income) expense, net on the Company's consolidated statement of operations.

Borrowings

As of September 26, 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under its secured revolving credit facility.

The fair value of the Company's senior notes at September 26, 2020 was approximately $1.05 billion. The fair value of these senior notes with a notional
value and carrying value (gross of debt cost) of $1.00 billion was estimated using a quoted price as provided in the secondary market, which considers the
Company's credit risk and market related conditions, and is therefore within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Impairment of long-lived tangible assets

Long-lived assets, which for the Company primarily consist of operating lease assets and store assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The asset group is defined as the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are available and is largely independent of cash flows of other groups of assets, which for our retail stores, is at the store level. For
impaired assets, the Company recognized a loss equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the asset or asset group and its estimated fair value,
which is recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statements of operations. For operating lease assets, the
Company determines the fair value of the assets by discounting the estimated market rental rates over the remaining term of the lease. These estimates can
be affected by factors such as future store results, real estate demand, store closure plans, property specific discount rates, and economic conditions that can
be difficult to predict. These fair value measurements qualify as level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a qualitative indication of impairment related to our store long-lived assets. During the third quarter and
first three quarters of fiscal 2020, the Company recorded impairment charges of operating lease
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

assets and other long-lived assets for our underperforming retail stores of $1.7 million and $6.7 million, respectively. The impairment charges were
recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested annually, or if a triggering event occurs that indicates an impairment loss may have been incurred,
using fair value measurements with unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Due to the decrease in the Company's market capitalization, lower than expected actual sales, and lower projected sales and profitability due to the impacts
from the outbreak of COVID-19, the Company concluded that impairment indicators existed for the first quarter of fiscal 2020. As a result, during the first
quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company conducted interim quantitative impairment assessments on goodwill ascribed to the Other International reporting unit
and on the value of the Company's indefinite-lived OshKosh and Skip Hop tradename assets that was recorded in connection with the acquisition of
OshKosh B'Gosh, Inc. in July 2005 and Skip Hop Holdings, Inc. in February 2017, respectively.

Based on these assessments, a goodwill impairment charge of $17.7 million was recorded during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 to our Other International
reporting unit in the International segment and charges of $15.5 million and $11.0 million were recorded on our indefinite-lived OshKosh and Skip Hop
tradename assets, respectively. The charge recorded on our indefinite-lived OshKosh tradename asset included charges of $13.6 million, $1.6 million, and
$0.3 million in the U.S. Retail, U.S. Wholesale, and International segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the indefinite-
lived OshKosh tradename asset. The charge recorded on our indefinite-lived Skip Hop tradename asset included charges of $6.8 million, $3.7 million, and
$0.5 million in the U.S. Wholesale, International, and U.S. Retail segments, respectively, to reflect the impairment of the value ascribed to the indefinite-
lived Skip Hop tradename asset. The carrying value of the Company's goodwill for the Other International reporting unit after the impairment charge and as
of September 26, 2020 was approximately $11.5 million. The carrying values of the Company's indefinite-lived OshKosh and Skip Hop tradename asset
after the impairment charge and as of September 26, 2020 were $70.0 million and $15.0 million, respectively. See Note 6, Goodwill and Intangibles, for
further details on the impairment charges and valuation methodologies.
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NOTE 12 – EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of basic common shares outstanding to diluted common and common equivalent shares outstanding:

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

 September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019
Weighted-average number of common and common equivalent shares

outstanding:        
Basic number of common shares outstanding 43,193,752  44,144,135  43,237,319  44,640,413

Dilutive effect of equity awards 156,878  287,904  174,351  302,832

Diluted number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding 43,350,630  44,432,039  43,411,670  44,943,245

        
Basic net income per common share (in thousands, except per share data):        

Net income $ 81,241  $ 60,252  $ 10,703  $ 138,655

Income allocated to participating securities (837)  (565)  (88)  (1,244)

Net income available to common shareholders $ 80,404  $ 59,687  $ 10,615  $ 137,411

        
Basic net income per common share $ 1.86  $ 1.35  $ 0.25  $ 3.08

        
Diluted net income per common share (in thousands, except per share data):        

Net income $ 81,241  $ 60,252  $ 10,703  $ 138,655

Income allocated to participating securities (834)  (563)  (89)  (1,239)

Net income available to common shareholders $ 80,407  $ 59,689  $ 10,614  $ 137,416

        
Diluted net income per common share $ 1.85  $ 1.34  $ 0.24  $ 3.06

        
Anti-dilutive awards excluded from diluted earnings per share
computation 729,476  691,707  744,499  505,642

NOTE 13 – OTHER CURRENT AND LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities that exceeded five percent of total current liabilities, at the end of any comparable period, were as follows:

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  December 28, 2019  September 28, 2019

Income taxes payable $ 18,744  $ 23,269  $ 26,909

There are no Other long-term liabilities that exceeded five percent of total liabilities, at the end of any comparable period.

NOTE 14 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to various claims and pending or threatened lawsuits in the normal course of business. The Company is not currently a party to any
legal proceedings that it believes would have a material adverse impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company's contractual obligations and commitments include obligations associated with leases, the secured revolving credit agreement, senior notes,
employee benefit plans, and facility consolidations/closures as disclosed in Note 16, Organizational Restructuring and Office Consolidation, to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company also has minimum inventory purchase commitments, including fabric commitments, with our suppliers which secure a portion of our
material needs for future seasons. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, some of our orders may be canceled. As of September 26, 2020, the Company had
an outstanding reserve of $15.4 million for adverse inventory and fabric purchase commitments.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 15 – SEGMENT INFORMATION

The tables below present certain information for our reportable segments and unallocated corporate expenses for the periods indicated:

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

(dollars in
thousands)

September 26, 
2020  

% of
Total Net Sales  

September 28, 
2019  

% of
Total Net Sales  

September 26, 
2020  

% of
Total Net Sales  

September 28, 
2019  

% of
Total Net Sales

Net sales:                
U.S. Retail $ 449,150  51.9%  $ 464,100  49.2%  $ 1,085,883  53.4 %  $ 1,264,283  52.3%

U.S. Wholesale 302,135  34.9%  352,256  37.3%  706,009  34.7 %  856,713  35.4%

International    113,795  13.2%  126,966  13.5%  242,545  11.9 %  297,768  12.3%

Total net sales $ 865,080  100.0%  $ 943,322  100.0%  $ 2,034,437  100.0 %  $ 2,418,764  100.0%

                

Operating income
(loss):   

% of
Segment
Net Sales    

% of
Segment
Net Sales    

% of
Segment
Net Sales    

% of
Segment
Net Sales

U.S. Retail $ 47,559  10.6%  $ 49,472  10.7%  $ 38,902  3.6 %  $ 124,567  9.9%

U.S. Wholesale 65,718  21.8%  54,391  15.4%  89,141  12.6 %  145,181  16.9%

International 17,400  15.3%  6,136  4.8%  (15,819)  (6.5)%  15,351  5.2%
Corporate
expenses(*) (17,150)  n/a  (26,129)  n/a  (56,221)  n/a  (75,994)  n/a

Total operating
income $ 113,527  13.1%  $ 83,870  8.9%  $ 56,003  2.8 %  $ 209,105  8.6%

(*) Corporate expenses include expenses related to incentive compensation, stock-based compensation, executive management, severance and relocation, finance, office occupancy,
information technology, certain legal fees, consulting fees, and audit fees.

(dollars in millions) Fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020  Three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020

Charges: U.S. Retail  
U.S.

Wholesale  International  U.S. Retail  
U.S.

Wholesale  International

Organizational restructuring(1) $ 0.3  $ 0.2  $ 0.3  $ 3.4  $ 1.5  $ 1.9

Goodwill impairment —  —  —  —  —  17.7

Skip Hop tradename impairment charge —  —  —  0.5  6.8  3.7

OshKosh tradename impairment charge —  —  —  13.6  1.6  0.3

Incremental costs associated with COVID-19 pandemic 1.6  1.4  0.3  8.3  8.5  2.0
Retail store operating leases and other long-lived asset
impairments, net of gain(2) 1.5  —  —  6.3  —  0.2

       Total charges $ 3.4  $ 1.6  $ 0.6  $ 32.1  $ 18.4  $ 25.8

(1) The third fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020, the three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020, and the three fiscal quarters ended September 28, 2019 also include corporate charges
related to organizational restructuring of $0.4 million, $2.0 million, and $1.6 million, respectively.

(2) Impairments include an immaterial gain on the remeasurement of retail store operating leases.

(dollars in millions) Fiscal quarter ended September 28, 2019  Three fiscal quarters ended September 28, 2019

Charges: U.S. Retail  
U.S.

Wholesale  International  U.S. Retail  
U.S.

Wholesale  International
Benefit related to sale of inventory previously reserved in
China $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (2.1)
Reversal of store restructuring costs previously recorded
during the third quarter of fiscal 2017 —  —  —  (0.7)  —  —

Skip Hop tradename impairment charge 1.2  19.1  10.5  1.2  19.1  10.5

      Total charges $ 1.2  $ 19.1  $ 10.5  $ 0.5  $ 19.1  $ 8.4
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NOTE 16 – ORGANIZATIONAL RESTRUCTURING AND OFFICE CONSOLIDATION

In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company announced several organizational restructuring initiatives which included a reorganization of staffing
models across multiple functions to drive labor savings and increase efficiencies as well as the consolidation of certain functions into our corporate
headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. In conjunction with these initiatives, the Company recorded the following charges in selling, general and administrative
expenses:

 Fiscal quarter ended  Three fiscal quarters ended

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  September 26, 2020

Severance and other termination benefits $ 181  $ 4,423

Lease exit costs 780  2,495

Relocation and recruiting 253  1,755

Other closure costs —  80

Total $ 1,214  $ 8,753

As of September 26, 2020, there was approximately $1.3 million in reserves related to severance and other termination benefits expected to be paid out by
the end of the year included in Other current liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company expects to incur additional
restructuring-related charges of approximately $1.0 million to $2.0 million through fiscal 2021. These charges primarily relate to accelerated depreciation,
lease exit costs, severance, and relocation and recruiting costs.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 relating to our future performance, including, without limitation, statements with respect to our anticipated financial results
for any other quarter or period in fiscal 2020 or any other future period, assessment of our performance and financial position, drivers of our sales and
earnings growth, and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Such statements are based on current expectations only, and are subject to certain risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or not materialize, or should any of the underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated, or projected. Certain of the risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results and performance to differ materially are described in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K, in Part I. under the
heading "Item 1A -- Risk Factors", in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 28, 2020, in Part II. under the heading "Item 1A --
Risk Factors", and in other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time.

OVERVIEW

We are the largest branded marketer in North America of apparel exclusively for babies and young children. We own two of the most highly recognized and
most trusted brand names in the children's apparel industry, Carter's and OshKosh B'gosh (or "OshKosh"), and a leading baby and young child lifestyle
brand, Skip Hop.

Established in 1865, our Carter's brand is recognized and trusted by consumers for high-quality apparel and accessories for children in sizes newborn to 14.

Established in 1895, OshKosh is a well-known brand, trusted by consumers for apparel and accessories for children in sizes newborn to 14, with a focus on
playclothes for toddlers and young children.

Established in 2003, the Skip Hop brand re-thinks, re-energizes, and re-imagines durable childhood necessities such as diaper bags to create higher value,
superior quality, and top-performing goods for parents, babies, and toddlers. We acquired the Skip Hop brand in February 2017.

Our mission is to serve the needs of all families with young children, with a vision to be the world's favorite brands in young children's apparel and
products. We believe our brands provide a complementary product offering and aesthetic, are each uniquely positioned in the marketplace, and offer strong
value to families with young children. Our multi-channel global business model, which includes retail store, eCommerce, and wholesale sales channels,
enables us to reach a broad range of consumers around the world. We have extensive experience in the young children's apparel and accessories market and
focus on delivering products that satisfy our consumers' needs.

The following is a discussion of our results of operations and current financial condition. This should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Form 10-Q and audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 2019 fiscal year ended December 28, 2019.

Segments

Our three business segments are: U.S. Retail, U.S. Wholesale, and International. These segments are our operating and reporting segments. Our U.S. Retail
segment consists of revenue primarily from sales of products in the United States through our retail stores and eCommerce websites. Similarly, our U.S.
Wholesale segment consists of revenue primarily from sales in the United States of products to our wholesale partners. Finally, our International segment
consists of revenue primarily from sales of products outside the United States, largely through our retail stores and eCommerce websites in Canada and
Mexico, and sales to our international wholesale customers and licensees.
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Recent Developments

In December 2019, an outbreak of COVID-19 began in Wuhan, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic and
the President of the United States declared a national emergency. Federal, state and local governments and private entities mandated various restrictions,
including travel restrictions, restrictions on public gatherings, stay at home orders and advisories, and quarantining of people who may have been exposed
to the virus. The response to the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created significant
disruption of the financial and retail markets, including a disruption in consumer demand for baby and young children’s clothing and accessories.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and will likely continue to have, significant adverse effects on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations as described in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 28, 2020 and June 27, 2020 in Part I. under the heading "Item
2 -- Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -- Recent Developments", which discussion is incorporated
by reference herein.

Developments during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 include:

• As of September 26, 2020, we had 1,095 stores out of 1,104 stores open in North America; stores were opened subject to safety considerations
resulting from the progression of the novel coronavirus and related laws and regulations put in place by state and local governments.

• The Company repaid all of its borrowings under its secured revolving credit facility with cash on hand. As of September 26, 2020, the Company
had no outstanding borrowings under its secured revolving credit facility, exclusive of $7.0 million of outstanding letters of credit, and had
approximately $1.57 billion in total liquidity, including $831.2 million cash on hand and $743.0 million available for future borrowing under our
secured revolving credit facility.

• The Company reinstated previously reduced salaries for executives and employees, and Board of Directors' fees to pre-reduction levels.

• The Company resumed its strategic investments in information technology, eCommerce, marketing, and retail store initiatives, which had been
paused to create financial flexibility as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Third Fiscal Quarter 2020 Financial Highlights

• Consolidated net sales decreased $78.2 million, or 8.3%, to $865.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020.
◦ The decrease in sales to certain of our wholesale customers, decreased retail store traffic, and decreased back-to-school sales as a result of

the COVID-19 pandemic negatively affected our financial results for the third quarter of fiscal 2020.
◦ Our eCommerce delivered strong growth in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, reflecting higher online demand, enhanced marketing efforts,

the relaunch of our enhanced websites in the second-half of fiscal 2019, and the launch of our website in Mexico in late fiscal 2019.
◦ We also delivered growth in our omni-channel programs during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 due to increased investments and

enhancements, including expanding our curbside pickup program and direct-from-store shipment program.
• Gross profit decreased $18.5 million, or 4.6%, to $383.7 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Gross margin increased 180 basis points

("bps") to 44.4% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily due to an increase in eCommerce average selling prices as a result of decreased
promotions, decreased inventory provisions, and channel mix, partially offset by deleverage of in-bound transportation costs (which includes costs
associated with shipping product to our distribution centers for further outbound distribution to our stores and customers).

• Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses as a percentage of total net sales ("SG&A rate") increased 80 bps to 32.3% for the third
quarter of fiscal 2020. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to decreased consolidated net sales as a result of business disruptions
related to the COVID-19 pandemic, the incremental COVID-19 related charges as discussed below, increased eCommerce costs due to an increase
in eCommerce demand, increased bad debt expense, impairment charges on operating lease assets, and organizational restructuring charges, all
partially offset by reductions in performance-based compensation expense, decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in spend and the shift to
eCommerce demand, and other reductions in spending.

◦ COVID-19 related SG&A expenses in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 were $3.3 million, which primarily included costs associated with
additional protective equipment and cleaning supplies of $2.5 million.
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• Operating income increased $29.7 million, or 35.4%, to $113.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily due to an indefinite-lived
tradename asset impairment charge of $30.8 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 that did not re-occur in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, and
the factors discussed above.

• Net income increased $21.0 million, or 34.8%, to $81.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily due to the factors discussed above,
partially offset by a $6.4 million increase in interest expense as a result of increased borrowings, and increased income taxes.

• Diluted net income per common share increased 38.1% to $1.85 in the third quarter of fiscal 2020.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THIRD FISCAL QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 26, 2020 COMPARED TO THIRD FISCAL QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 28, 2019

The following table summarizes our results of operations. All percentages shown in the table and the discussion that follows have been calculated using
unrounded numbers.

 Fiscal quarter ended  

(dollars in thousands, except per share data) September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  $ Change  % / bps Change
Consolidated net sales $ 865,080  $ 943,322  $ (78,242)  (8.3)%
Cost of goods sold 483,333  540,808  (57,475)  (10.6)%
Adverse purchase commitments (inventory and raw materials),
net (1,968)  303  (2,271)  nm
Gross profit 383,715  402,211  (18,496)  (4.6)%

Gross profit as % of consolidated net sales 44.4%  42.6%    180 bps
Royalty income, net 9,063  9,192  (129)  (1.4)%

Royalty income as % of consolidated net sales 1.0%  1.0%    0 bps
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 279,251  296,733  (17,482)  (5.9)%

SG&A expenses as % of consolidated net sales 32.3%  31.5%    80 bps
Intangible asset impairment —  30,800  (30,800)  nm
Operating income 113,527  83,870  29,657  35.4 %

Operating income as % of consolidated net sales 13.1%  8.9%    420 bps
Interest expense 16,347  9,966  6,381  64.0 %
Interest income (330)  (200)  (130)  65.0 %
Other (income) expense, net (2,758)  483  (3,241)  nm
Income before income taxes 100,268  73,621  26,647  36.2 %
Income tax provision 19,027  13,369  5,658  42.3 %

Effective tax rate(*) 19.0%  18.2%    80 bps

Net income $ 81,241  $ 60,252  $ 20,989  34.8 %

        
Basic net income per common share $ 1.86  $ 1.35  $ 0.51  37.8 %

Diluted net income per common share $ 1.85  $ 1.34  $ 0.51  38.1 %

Dividend declared and paid per common share $ —  $ 0.50  $ (0.50)  (100.0)%
(*) Effective tax rate is calculated by dividing the provision for income taxes by income before income taxes.
Note: Results may not be additive due to rounding.

Consolidated Net Sales

Consolidated net sales decreased $78.2 million, or 8.3%, to $865.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. This decrease primarily reflected decreased
sales to certain of our wholesale customers, decreased retail store traffic, and decreased back-to-school sales, in each case as a result of disruptions related
to COVID-19, partially offset by an increase in eCommerce net sales. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates used for translation in the third quarter of
fiscal 2020, as compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2019, had an unfavorable effect on our consolidated net sales of approximately $2.0 million.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Our consolidated gross profit decreased $18.5 million, or 4.6%, to $383.7 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Consolidated gross margin increased
180 bps to 44.4% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020.
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Gross profit is calculated as consolidated net sales less cost of goods sold, and gross margin is calculated as gross profit divided by consolidated net sales.
Cost of goods sold include expenses related to the merchandising, design, and procurement of product, including inbound freight costs, purchasing and
receiving costs, and inspection costs. Also included in cost of goods sold are the costs of shipping eCommerce product to end consumers. Retail store
occupancy costs, distribution expenses, and generally all other expenses other than interest and income taxes are included in SG&A. Distribution expenses
that are included in SG&A primarily consist of payments to third-party shippers and handling costs to process product through our distribution facilities,
including eCommerce fulfillment costs, and delivery to our wholesale customers and to our retail stores. Accordingly, our gross profit and gross margin
may not be comparable to other entities that define their metrics differently.

The decrease in consolidated gross profit was primarily due to decreased consolidated net sales across our businesses. The increase in gross margin was
primarily due to an increase in eCommerce average selling prices as a result of decreased promotions, decreased inventory provisions, and channel mix,
partially offset by deleverage of in-bound transportation costs.

Royalty Income

Royalty income of $9.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 was comparable to royalty income in the third quarter of fiscal 2019.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated SG&A expenses decreased $17.5 million, or 5.9%, to $279.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 and increased as a percentage of
consolidated net sales by approximately 80 bps to 32.3%. This increase as a percentage of net sales was primarily due to decreased consolidated net sales as
a result of business disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, incremental COVID-19 related charges, increased eCommerce costs due to an increase
in eCommerce demand, increased bad debt expense, impairment charges on operating lease assets, and organizational restructuring charges, all partially
offset by reductions in performance-based compensation expense, decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in spend and the shift to eCommerce
demand, and other reductions in spending.

Goodwill Impairment

During the third quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $30.8 million related to the impairment of its Skip Hop tradename
recorded in connection with the acquisition of Skip Hop Holdings, Inc. in 2017.

Operating Income

Consolidated operating income increased $29.7 million, or 35.4%, to $113.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 and increased as a percentage of net
sales by approximately 420 bps to 13.1% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily due to the factors discussed above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $6.4 million, or 64.0%, to $16.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Weighted-average borrowings for the third quarter of
fiscal 2020 were $1.24 billion at an effective interest rate of 5.25%, compared to weighted-average borrowings for the third quarter of fiscal 2019 of $735.2
million at an effective interest rate of 5.34%.

The increase in weighted-average borrowings during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 was attributable to the issuance of $500 million in principal amount of
senior notes due 2025 in the second quarter of fiscal 2020 to strengthen our cash position. The decrease in the effective interest rate for the third quarter of
fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2019 was primarily due to lower LIBOR rates under our secured revolving credit facility.

Other (Income) Expense, Net

Other (income) expense, net reflected income of $2.8 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to expense of $0.5 million in the third quarter of
fiscal 2019, primarily due to strengthening of the Canadian dollar resulting in remeasurement gains of our U.S. dollar denominated payables in Canada and
increased investment income.

Income Taxes

Our consolidated income tax provision increased $5.7 million, or 42.3%, to $19.0 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Our effective tax rate was
19.0% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to 18.2% in the third quarter of fiscal 2019.
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Net Income

Our consolidated net income increased $21.0 million, or 34.8%, to $81.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. This increase was due to the factors
previously discussed.

Results by Segment - Third Quarter of Fiscal 2020 compared to Third Quarter of Fiscal 2019

The following table summarizes net sales and operating income, by segment, for the third fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020 and September 28,
2019:

 Fiscal quarter ended     

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  

% of
consolidated net

sales  September 28, 2019  

% of
consolidated net

sales  $ Change  % Change

Net sales:            
U.S. Retail $ 449,150  51.9%  $ 464,100  49.2%  $ (14,950)  (3.2)%

U.S. Wholesale 302,135  34.9%  352,256  37.3%  (50,121)  (14.2)%

International 113,795  13.2%  126,966  13.5%  (13,171)  (10.4)%

Consolidated net sales $ 865,080  100.0%  $ 943,322  100.0%  $ (78,242)  (8.3)%

            

Operating income:   
% of segment net

sales    
% of segment net

sales     
U.S. Retail $ 47,559  10.6%  $ 49,472  10.7%  $ (1,913)  (3.9)%

U.S. Wholesale 65,718  21.8%  54,391  15.4%  11,327  20.8 %

International 17,400  15.3%  6,136  4.8%  11,264  183.6 %

Unallocated corporate expenses (17,150)  n/a  (26,129)  n/a  8,979  34.4 %

Consolidated operating income $ 113,527  13.1%  $ 83,870  8.9%  $ 29,657  35.4 %

Comparable Sales Metrics

As stores reopened and remained open for the third quarter of fiscal 2020, although in some instances operating with reduced hours, we are including in our
management's discussion and analysis for the third quarter of fiscal 2020 comparable sales metrics for our company-owned retail stores and our
eCommerce sites in our U.S. Retail and International segments.

Our comparable store sales metrics include sales for all stores and eCommerce sites that were open and operated by us during the comparable fiscal period,
including stand-alone format stores that converted to multi-branded format stores and certain remodeled or relocated stores. A store or site becomes
comparable following 13 consecutive full fiscal months of operations. If a store relocates within the same center with no business interruption or material
change in square footage, the sales of such store will continue to be included in the comparable store metrics. If a store relocates to another center, or there
is a material change in square footage, such store is treated as a new store. Stores that are closed during the relevant fiscal period are included in the
comparable store sales metrics up to the last full fiscal month of operations.

The method of calculating sales metrics varies across the retail industry. As a result, our comparable sales metrics may not be comparable to those other
retailers.

U.S. Retail

U.S. Retail segment net sales decreased $15.0 million, or 3.2%, to $449.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. The decrease in net sales was primarily
driven by decreased retail store traffic as a result of disruptions related to COVID-19, partially offset by an increase in eCommerce sales. Comparable net
sales, including retail stores and eCommerce, decreased 3.5% during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2019 primarily
driven by the factors mentioned above. As of September 26, 2020, we operated 863 retail stores in the U.S., of which 854 were open, compared to 862 as of
December 28, 2019.

U.S. Retail segment operating income decreased $1.9 million, or 3.9%, to $47.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Operating margin decreased 10
bps to 10.6% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Operating income in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 included an intangible asset impairment charge of $1.2
million related to the Skip Hop tradename. The primary drivers of the decrease in operating margin were a 60 bps increase in gross margin, the intangible
asset impairment charge in the third
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quarter of fiscal 2019 that did not re-occur in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, and a 90 bps increase in SG&A rate. The increase in gross margin was
primarily due to an increase in eCommerce average selling prices as a result of decreased promotions and decreased inventory provisions, partially offset
by deleverage of in-bound transportation costs and increased inventory-related handling costs. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to
increased eCommerce costs due to an increase in eCommerce demand, incremental COVID-19 related charges, impairment charges on operating lease
assets, and deleveraged retail store expenses as a result of decreased retail store traffic, partially offset by decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in
spend and the shift to eCommerce demand, decreased performance-based compensation expense, and other reductions in spending.

U.S. Wholesale

U.S. Wholesale segment net sales decreased $50.1 million, or 14.2%, to $302.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily due to decreased sales
to certain of our wholesale customers as a result of disruptions related to COVID-19, partially offset by an increase in net sales of our exclusive Carter's
brands.

U.S. Wholesale segment operating income increased $11.3 million, or 20.8%, to $65.7 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Operating margin
increased 640 bps to 21.8% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Operating income in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 included intangible asset impairment
charges of $19.1 million related to the Skip Hop tradename. The primary drivers of the increase in operating margin were the intangible asset impairment
charge in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 that did not re-occur in fiscal 2020, a 160 bps increase in gross margin, and a 90 bps increase in the SG&A rate.
The increase in gross margin was primarily due to better than expected sales of inventory that was reserved in the first quarter of fiscal 2020 due to
COVID-19 related disruptions, partially offset by deleverage of in-bound transportation costs. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to
increased bad debt expense and incremental COVID-19 related charges, partially offset by decreased performance-based compensation expense and other
reductions in spending.

International

International segment net sales decreased $13.2 million, or 10.4%, to $113.8 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Changes in foreign currency
exchange rates used for translation had a $2.0 million unfavorable effect on International segment net sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. The decrease
in net sales is primarily due to decreased wholesale shipments to our international partners and decreased retail store traffic as a result of disruptions related
to COVID-19, partially offset by growth in Canadian eCommerce and the addition of our Mexico eCommerce in late fiscal 2019.

Canadian comparable net sales, including retail stores and eCommerce, increased 6.8% during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter
of fiscal 2019, primarily due to growth in Canadian eCommerce. As of September 26, 2020, we have reopened all of our stores in Canada and Mexico. As
of September 26, 2020, we operated 196 and 45 retail stores in Canada and Mexico, respectively, compared to 201 and 46 as of December 28, 2019.

International segment operating income increased $11.3 million, or 183.6%, to operating income of $17.4 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020.
Operating margin increased 1,050 bps to 15.3% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Operating income in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 included intangible
asset impairment charges of $10.5 million related to the Skip Hop tradename. The increase in the operating margin was primarily attributable to the
intangible asset impairment charge in the third quarter of fiscal 2019 that did not re-occur in fiscal 2020, a 200 bps increase in gross margin, a 30 bps
increase in royalty income, and a 10 bps increase in the SG&A rate. The increase in gross margin was primarily due to an increase in eCommerce average
selling prices and decreased inventory provisions, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency exchange rates. The increase in royalty income was
primarily due to increased sales from our international licensees. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to a deleverage of retail store expenses
as a result of decreased retail store traffic and increased eCommerce costs due to an increase in eCommerce demand, partially offset by decreased
marketing costs due to a reduction in spend, reductions in performance-based compensation expense, and other reductions in spending.

Unallocated Corporate Expenses

Unallocated corporate expenses decreased $9.0 million, or 34.4%, to $17.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Unallocated corporate expenses, as a
percentage of consolidated net sales, decreased 80 bps to 2.0% in the third quarter of fiscal 2020 primarily due to spending reductions, partially offset by
decreased consolidated net sales.
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THREE FISCAL QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 26, 2020 COMPARED TO THREE FISCAL QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 28, 2019

The following table summarizes our results of operations. All percentages shown in the table and the discussion that follows have been calculated using
unrounded numbers.

 Three fiscal quarters ended  
(dollars in thousands, except per share data) September 26, 2020  September 28, 2019  $ Change  % / bps Change
Consolidated net sales $ 2,034,437  $ 2,418,764  $ (384,327)  (15.9)%
Cost of goods sold 1,170,778  1,376,336  (205,558)  (14.9)%
Adverse purchase commitments (inventory and raw
materials), net 16,166  1,354  14,812  nm
Gross profit 847,493  1,041,074  (193,581)  (18.6)%

Gross profit as % of consolidated net sales 41.7%  43.0%    (130) bps
Royalty income, net 19,989  27,371  (7,382)  (27.0)%

Royalty income as % of consolidated net sales 1.0%  1.1%    (10) bps
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 767,237  828,540  (61,303)  (7.4)%

SG&A expenses as % of consolidated net sales 37.7%  34.3%    340 bps
Goodwill impairment 17,742  —  17,742  nm
Intangible asset impairment 26,500  30,800  (4,300)  (14.0)%
Operating income 56,003  209,105  (153,102)  (73.2)%

Operating income as % of consolidated net sales 2.8%  8.6%    (580) bps
Interest expense 40,523  28,667  11,856  41.4 %
Interest income (1,217)  (937)  (280)  29.9 %
Other expense, net 2,647  474  2,173  nm
Loss on extinguishment of debt —  7,823  (7,823)  nm
Income before income taxes 14,050  173,078  (159,028)  (91.9)%
Income tax provision 3,347  34,423  (31,076)  (90.3)%

Effective tax rate(*) 23.8%  19.9%    390 bps

Net income $ 10,703  $ 138,655  $ (127,952)  (92.3)%

        
Basic net income per common share $ 0.25  $ 3.08  $ (2.83)  (91.9)%

Diluted net income per common share $ 0.24  $ 3.06  $ (2.82)  (92.2)%

Dividend declared and paid per common share $ 0.60  $ 1.50  $ (0.90)  (60.0)%
(*) Effective tax rate is calculated by dividing the provision for income taxes by income before income taxes.
Note: Results may not be additive due to rounding.

Consolidated Net Sales

Consolidated net sales decreased $384.3 million, or 15.9%, to $2.03 billion in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. This decrease primarily reflected the
temporary closure of our retail stores, particularly during the months of March, April, and May, and decreased sales to certain of our wholesale customers
as a result of disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by an increase in net sales through our eCommerce channel. Changes in
foreign currency exchange rates used for translation in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, as compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2019, had an
unfavorable effect on our consolidated net sales of approximately $4.7 million.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Our consolidated gross profit decreased $193.6 million, or 18.6%, to $847.5 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Consolidated gross margin
decreased 130 bps to 41.7% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020.

The decrease in consolidated gross profit and gross margin was primarily due to lower net sales across our business segments, increased inventory
provisions, the recognition of other adverse inventory and fabric purchase commitments from disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, channel mix,
and increased inventory-related handling costs, partially offset by an increase in eCommerce average selling prices as a result of decreased promotions. The
Company recorded inventory related charges of
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$40.0 million, inclusive of adverse inventory and fabric purchase commitments of $16.2 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, primarily due to
disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Royalty Income

Royalty income decreased $7.4 million, or 27.0%, to $20.0 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, primarily as a result of decreased licensee sales
volume due to business disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, in 2019, the Company ended a previous royalty arrangement with
Target related to the Genuine Kids by OshKosh brand. The Company now sells the OshKosh brand to Target directly under a wholesale business model.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated SG&A expenses decreased $61.3 million, or 7.4%, to $767.2 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and increased as a percentage of
consolidated net sales approximately 340 bps to 37.7%. This increase as a percentage of consolidated net sales was primarily driven by lower net sales as a
result of business disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, increased eCommerce costs due to an increase in eCommerce demand, incremental
COVID-19 related charges, organizational restructuring charges, impairment charges on operating lease assets, increased bad debt expense, and increased
investments in technology initiatives, all partially offset by decreased performance-based compensation expense, decreased marketing costs due to a
reduction in spend and the shift to eCommerce demand, and other reductions in spending.

Goodwill Impairment

During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company's market capitalization declined, and actual and projected sales and profitability decreased as a result of
disruptions related to COVID-19. Based on these events, we concluded that a triggering event occurred, and we performed an interim quantitative
impairment test as of March 28, 2020. Based upon the results of the impairment test, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $17.7 million during
the first quarter of fiscal 2020 which was recorded to the Other International reporting unit in the International segment.

Intangible Asset Impairment

In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company recorded non-cash impairment charges of $15.5 million and $11.0 million related to its OshKosh and Skip
Hop tradename assets that were recorded in connection with the acquisition of OshKosh B'Gosh, Inc. in July 2005 and Skip Hop Holdings, Inc. in February
2017, respectively. The impairment reflected lower-than-expected actual sales, and lower projected sales and profitability due to decreased demand as a
result of disruptions related to COVID-19.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $30.8 million relative to the impairment of its Skip Hop tradename
recorded in connection with the acquisition of Skip Hop Holdings, Inc. in 2017.

Operating Income

Consolidated operating income decreased $153.1 million, or 73.2%, to $56.0 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and decreased as a percentage
of net sales by approximately 580 bps to 2.8% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, primarily due to the factors discussed above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $11.9 million, or 41.4%, to $40.5 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Weighted-average borrowings for the first
three quarters of fiscal 2020 were $1.04 billion at an effective interest rate of 5.10%, compared to weighted-average borrowings for the first three quarters
of fiscal 2019 of $661.2 million at an effective interest rate of 5.45%.

The increase in weighted-average borrowings during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was attributable to the issuance of $500 million in principal
amount of senior notes in May 2020, as well as to increased borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility beginning in March to strengthen our
cash position. The decrease in the effective interest rate for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 was
primarily due to lower LIBOR rates and increased variable-rate borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net increased $2.2 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 primarily due to a foreign exchange loss on intercompany loans in the
first quarter of fiscal 2020 related to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar.
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Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, loss on extinguishment of debt was $7.8 million due to the early extinguishment of our $400 million in aggregate
principal amount of 5.25% senior notes due in 2021. Concurrently, we issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due in
2027.

Income Taxes

Our consolidated income tax provision decreased $31.1 million, or 90.3%, to $3.3 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Our effective tax rate
was 23.8% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to 19.9% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. The increase in effective tax rate primarily
reflects the impact of goodwill impairments in the first quarter of fiscal 2020 with no corresponding tax benefit, partially offset by a greater portion of our
income earned in jurisdictions with a tax rate lower than the U.S. tax rate.

Net Income

Our consolidated net income decreased $128.0 million, or 92.3%, to $10.7 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. This decrease was due to the
factors previously discussed.

Results by Segment - First Three Quarters of Fiscal 2020 compared to First Three Quarters of Fiscal 2019

The following table summarizes net sales and operating income, by segment, for the first three fiscal quarters ended September 26, 2020 and September 28,
2019:

 Three fiscal quarters ended     

(dollars in thousands) September 26, 2020  
% of consolidated

net sales  September 28, 2019  

% of
consolidated net

sales  $ Change  % Change

Net sales:            
U.S. Retail $ 1,085,883  53.4 %  $ 1,264,283  52.3%  $ (178,400)  (14.1)%

U.S. Wholesale 706,009  34.7 %  856,713  35.4%  (150,704)  (17.6)%

International 242,545  11.9 %  297,768  12.3%  (55,223)  (18.5)%

Consolidated net sales $ 2,034,437  100.0 %  $ 2,418,764  100.0%  $ (384,327)  (15.9)%

            

Operating income (loss):   
% of segment net

sales    
% of segment net

sales     
U.S. Retail $ 38,902  3.6 %  $ 124,567  9.9%  $ (85,665)  (68.8)%

U.S. Wholesale 89,141  12.6 %  145,181  16.9%  (56,040)  (38.6)%

International (15,819)  (6.5)%  15,351  5.2%  (31,170)  (203.0)%

Unallocated corporate expenses (56,221)  n/a  (75,994)  n/a  19,773  26.0 %

Consolidated operating income $ 56,003  2.8 %  $ 209,105  8.6%  $ (153,102)  (73.2)%

U.S. Retail

U.S. Retail segment net sales decreased $178.4 million, or 14.1%, to $1.09 billion in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. The decrease in net sales was
primarily driven by temporary store closures and decreased retail store traffic in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by an increase in
eCommerce sales. Comparable net sales, including retail stores and eCommerce, decreased 14.5% during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to
first three quarters of fiscal 2019 primarily driven by the factors mentioned above.

U.S. Retail segment operating income decreased $85.7 million, or 68.8%, to $38.9 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Operating margin
decreased 630 bps to 3.6% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Operating income in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 included intangible asset
impairment charges of $13.6 million and $0.5 million related to the OshKosh and Skip Hop tradenames, respectively. Operating income in the three
quarters of fiscal 2019 included an intangible asset impairment charge of $1.2 million related to the Skip Hop tradename. The primary drivers of the
decrease in operating margin were a 70 bps decrease in gross margin, a 10 bps decrease in royalty income, a 430 bps increase in SG&A rate, and the
incremental intangible asset impairment charges. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to increased excess inventory provisions as a result of
COVID-19 and increased inventory-related handling costs, partially offset by an increase in eCommerce average selling prices as a result of decreased
promotions. The decrease in royalty income was primarily due to
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decreased licensee sales volumes due to business disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to
increased eCommerce costs due to an increase in eCommerce demand, incremental COVID-19 related charges, deleverage of retail store expenses due to
store closures and reduced retail store traffic, impairment charges on operating lease assets, investments in the U.S. Retail business and technology
initiatives, and organizational restructuring, partially offset by decreased distribution and freight costs as a result of fewer units shipped to retail stores,
decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in spend and the shift to eCommerce demand, and reductions in performance-based compensation expense.

U.S. Wholesale

U.S. Wholesale segment net sales decreased $150.7 million, or 17.6%, to $706.0 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, primarily due to decreased
sales to certain of our wholesale customers as a result of disruptions related to COVID-19, partially offset by an increase in net sales in our exclusive
Carter's brands and an increase in average selling price per unit.

U.S. Wholesale segment operating income decreased $56.0 million, or 38.6%, to $89.1 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Operating margin
decreased 430 bps to 12.6% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Operating income in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 included intangible asset
impairment charges of $6.8 million and $1.6 million related to the Skip Hop and OshKosh tradenames, respectively. Operating income in the three quarters
of fiscal 2019 included an intangible asset impairment charge of $19.1 million related to the Skip Hop tradename. The primary drivers of the decrease in
operating margin were a 250 bps decrease in gross margin, a 30 bps decrease in royalty income, a 250 bps increase in SG&A rate, and decreased intangible
asset impairment charges. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to increased inventory provisions and other adverse inventory and fabric
purchase commitments from disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, deleveraged in-bound transportation costs, and customer mix, partially offset
by an increase in average selling price per unit. The decrease in royalty income was primarily a result of our customers' business disruptions and temporary
store closures related to COVID-19 and the initiation of wholesale sales of the OshKosh brand at Target, which replaced a former royalty business model.
The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to decreased sales due to customers' business disruptions and temporary store closures as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, incremental COVID-19 related charges, and increased bad debt expense, partially offset by decreased selling expenses as a result of
fewer units sold, reductions in performance-based compensation expense, and decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in spending.

International

International segment net sales decreased $55.2 million, or 18.5%, to $242.5 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Changes in foreign currency
exchange rates used for translation had a $4.7 million unfavorable effect on International segment net sales in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. The
decrease in net sales is primarily due to a decrease in retail store sales in Canada and Mexico driven by temporary store closures in response to COVID-19
and decreased wholesale shipments to our international partners as a result of COVID-19, partially offset by growth in Canadian eCommerce, the addition
of our Mexico eCommerce business in late fiscal 2019, and an increase in Mexico wholesale sales. Canadian comparable net sales, including retail stores
and eCommerce, decreased 15.7% during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 primarily due to the
factors for Canada sales mentioned above.

International segment operating income decreased $31.2 million, or 203.0%, to a $15.8 million operating loss in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020.
Operating margin decreased 1,170 bps to (6.5)% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Operating loss in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 included a
$17.7 million goodwill impairment charge recorded to the Other International reporting unit, a $3.7 million intangible asset impairment charge related to
the Skip Hop tradename, and a $0.3 million intangible asset impairment charge related to the OshKosh tradename. Operating income in the three quarters of
fiscal 2019 included an intangible asset impairment charge of $10.5 million related to the Skip Hop tradename.

The decrease in the operating margin was primarily attributable to the goodwill impairment charge partially offset by decreased intangible asset impairment
charges, a 310 bps decrease in gross margin, and a 330 bps increase in the SG&A rate. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to increased excess
inventory provisions and other adverse inventory and fabric purchase commitments from disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic and deleveraged
in-bound transportation costs, partially offset by an increase in eCommerce average selling prices. The increase in the SG&A rate was primarily due to
incremental COVID-19 related charges, deleverage of retail store and distribution expenses as a result of temporary store closures and reduced retail store
traffic, increased bad debt expense, and increased eCommerce costs due to an increase in eCommerce demand, partially offset by reductions in
performance-based compensation expense and decreased marketing costs due to a reduction in spending.
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Unallocated Corporate Expenses

Unallocated corporate expenses decreased $19.8 million, or 26.0%, to $56.2 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Unallocated corporate
expenses, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, decreased 30 bps to 2.8% in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. The decrease as a percentage of
consolidated net sales was a result of spending reductions, including decreased performance-based compensation expense, offset by decreased consolidated
net sales.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, CAPITAL RESOURCES, AND LIQUIDITY

We expect that our primary sources of liquidity will be cash and cash equivalents on hand along with available borrowing capacity under our secured
revolving credit facility. In May 2020, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary TWCC, issued $500 million principal amount of senior notes at
par. During the second quarter of fiscal 2020, net proceeds from this issuance, along with cash on hand, were used to pay down $500 million of then
outstanding borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility that was drawn down in March 2020 to improve liquidity. During the third quarter of
fiscal 2020, we repaid the remainder of our borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility with cash on hand. We have increased our cash on hand
by approximately $617 million as of September 26, 2020, compared to December 28, 2019. We further believe that cash flow from operations, although
affected by reduced sales and net income for us, access to additional capital and increased flexibility under financial maintenance covenants, along with
reductions in costs, and suspension of our share repurchase program and quarterly cash dividend, will allow us to manage the anticipated adverse impact of
COVID-19 on our business operations for the foreseeable future. Looking ahead, we have developed contingency plans to reduce costs further if the
situation deteriorates. We will continue to evaluate our financial position in light of future developments, particularly those relating to COVID-19. We
believe that these available and anticipated sources will fund our projected requirements for at least the next twelve months. These sources of liquidity may
be affected by events described in our risk factors, as further discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form
10-K, under the heading "Risk Factors" in Part II, Item 1A, in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 28, 2020, and in other
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time.

As of September 26, 2020, we had $831.2 million of cash and cash equivalents in major financial institutions, including $72.3 million in financial
institutions located outside of the United States. We maintain cash deposits with major financial institutions that exceed the insurance coverage limits
provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation in the United States and by similar insurers for deposits located outside the United States. To
mitigate this risk, we utilize a policy of allocating cash deposits among major financial institutions that have been evaluated by us and third-party rating
agencies.

Balance Sheet

Net accounts receivable at September 26, 2020 were $263.2 million compared to $293.2 million at September 28, 2019 and $251.0 million at December 28,
2019. The overall decrease of $30.0 million, or 10.2%, at September 26, 2020 compared to September 28, 2019 was primarily a result of reduced customer
demand and an increase in our bad debt reserves as a result of COVID-19, offset in part by the timing of cash receipts. Due to the seasonal nature of our
operations, the net accounts receivable balance at September 26, 2020 is not comparable to the net accounts receivable balance at December 28, 2019.

Inventories at September 26, 2020 were $646.6 million compared to $723.2 million at September 28, 2019 and $594.0 million at December 28, 2019. The
decrease of $76.6 million, or 10.6%, at September 26, 2020 compared to September 28, 2019 primarily reflects reduced purchases and higher inventory
provisions from disruptions related to COVID-19. Due to the seasonal nature of our operations, the inventories balance at September 26, 2020 is not
comparable to the inventories balance at December 28, 2019.

Cash Flow

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was $320.1 million compared to net cash provided by operating activities
of $73.4 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. Our cash flow provided by operating activities is dependent on net income and changes in our
working capital. The increase in operating cash flow for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was primarily due to an extension of payment terms and
deferrals of retail store lease payments, partially offset by lower earnings related to COVID-19.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $25.2 million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to $45.4 million in the first three quarters of
fiscal 2019 and is primarily related to capital expenditures for investments in information technology initiatives, new store openings, store remodels, and
distribution center enhancements..
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In response to COVID-19, we decreased our total planned fiscal 2020 investment in capital expenditures from approximately $75 million to approximately
$40 million. The $40 million of planned fiscal 2020 capital expenditures primarily relates to critical information technology initiatives, U.S. and
international retail store openings and remodels, investments to strengthen our omni-channel capabilities, and distribution facility initiatives. The majority
of the $35 million decrease relates to delayed store openings and the deferral of non-critical information technology initiatives.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $319.6 million in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to $44.4 million used in the first three
quarters of fiscal 2019. The net increase in cash provided by financing activities in the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was primarily due to an issuance of
$500 million in principal amount of senior notes in May 2020 to improve our cash position in light of the uncertainty and disruption related to COVID-19,
partially offset by the repayment of the remainder of our borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility with cash on hand. The first three quarters
of fiscal 2019 reflected the redemption of $400 million in principal amount of senior notes, the premium paid on the early extinguishment of the $400
million senior notes, repurchases of common stock, and dividend payments, partially offset by the issuance of $500 million in principal amount of senior
notes and an increase in borrowings on the revolving credit facility.

Secured Revolving Credit Facility

To improve our cash position in light of the uncertainty and disruption related to COVID-19, we drew $639.0 million under our secured revolving credit
facility in the month of March 2020, and in May 2020 repaid a portion of the outstanding borrowings with the net proceeds of a new $500 million senior
notes offering, as discussed below, and cash on hand. During the third quarter of fiscal 2020, we repaid the remainder of our borrowings under our secured
revolving credit facility with cash on hand. As of September 26, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility,
exclusive of $7.0 million of outstanding letters of credit. As of September 26, 2020, approximately $743.0 million was available for future borrowing. All
outstanding borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility are classified as non-current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets due to
contractual repayment terms under the credit facility. However, these repayment terms also allow us to repay some or all of the outstanding borrowings at
any time.

On May 4, 2020, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, TWCC, entered into Amendment No.2 ("Amendment") to its fourth amended and
restated credit agreement. This Amendment provided for, among other things, a waiver of financial covenants through the balance of fiscal year
2020, revised covenant requirements through the third quarter of fiscal year 2021, and the ability to raise additional unsecured financing, at the our
discretion.

Among other things, the Amendment provides that the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and Lease Adjusted Leverage Ratio covenants, in each
case, as defined in the Amendment, are waived during the period from and including the second fiscal quarter of 2020 through and including the fourth
fiscal quarter of 2020. Thereafter, the Lease Adjusted Leverage Ratio is set at 5.50:1.00 for the first fiscal quarter of 2021 and, during the remainder of
2021, gradually steps down to 4.00:1.00 for the fourth fiscal quarter of 2021 and, subject to the consummation of a Material Acquisition (as defined in the
Amendment), thereafter. The Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is set at 1.25:1.00 for the first fiscal quarter of 2021 and, during the remainder of
2021 and, gradually steps back up to 1.85:1.00 for the fourth fiscal quarter of 2021 and, subject to the consummation of a Material Acquisition, thereafter.

In addition, the Amendment provides that during the period from May 4, 2020 through the date we deliver our financial statements and associated
certificates relating to the third fiscal quarter of 2021, we must maintain a minimum liquidity (defined as cash-on-hand plus availability under its secured
revolving credit facility) on the last day of each fiscal month of at least $700 million. Also, during this period, the availability of certain exceptions to the
lien, investment, indebtedness, and restricted payment negative covenants (including those related to dividend payments and share repurchases) are limited
or removed, and any incremental credit extensions and the possibility of collateral and covenant release periods are suspended.

Additionally, the Amendment provides that, among other things during the period from May 4, 2020 through the date we deliver our financial statements
and associated certificates relating to the third quarter of fiscal 2021, interest rate margins applicable to the secured revolving credit facility were initially
2.125% for LIBOR rate loans (which may be adjusted based on a leverage-based pricing grid ranging from 1.125% to 2.375%) and 1.125% for base rate
loans (which may be adjusted based on a leverage-based pricing grid ranging from 0.125% to 1.375%). The Amendment also provides for a commitment
fee initially equal to 0.35% per annum and ranging from 0.15% per annum to 0.40% per annum, based upon a leverage-based pricing grid, which is payable
quarterly in arrears with respect to the average daily unused portion of the revolving loan commitments.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Approximately $1.2 million, including both bank fees and other third party expenses, has been capitalized in connection with the amendment and is being
amortized over the remaining term of the secured revolving credit facility.

The interest rate margins applicable to our secured revolving credit facility as of September 26, 2020 were 1.625% for LIBOR rate loans and 0.625% for
base rate loans. There were no U.S. dollar borrowings or foreign currency borrowings outstanding on September 26, 2020.

As of September 26, 2020, we were in compliance with the financial and other covenants under the secured revolving credit facility.

Senior Notes

On May 11, 2020, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, TWCC, completed the sale of $500 million principal amount of senior notes at par, bearing
interest at a rate of 5.500% per annum, and maturing on May 15, 2025, all of which were outstanding as of September 26, 2020. TWCC received net
proceeds from the offering of the senior notes of approximately $494.5 million, after deducting underwriting fees, which TWCC used to repay borrowings
outstanding under our secured revolving credit facility. Approximately $6.5 million, including both bank fees and other third party expenses, has been
capitalized in connection with the issuance and is being amortized over the term of the senior notes.

Additionally, as of September 26, 2020, we had outstanding $500 million principal amount of senior notes at par, bearing interest at a rate of 5.625% per
annum, and maturing on March 15, 2027, respectively.

Organizational Restructuring and Office Consolidation

During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, we announced several organizational restructuring initiatives which included a reorganization of staffing models
across multiple functions to drive labor savings and increase efficiencies as well as the consolidation of certain functions into our corporate headquarters in
Atlanta, Georgia. In conjunction with these plans, we incurred approximately $1.2 million and $8.8 million for the third quarter and the first three quarters
of fiscal 2020, respectively. As of September 26, 2020, we had approximately $1.3 million in reserves primarily related to severance and other termination
benefits expected to be paid by the end of fiscal 2020. We expect to incur additional restructuring-related charges of approximately $1.0 million to $2.0
million through fiscal 2021. These charges primarily relate to accelerated depreciation, lease exit costs, severance, and relocation and recruiting costs.

Share Repurchases

On March 26, 2020, we announced that, in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, we suspended our common stock share repurchase program, which
permits repurchases in the open market, in negotiated transactions, or otherwise. The timing and amount of any future repurchases will be determined by us
based on our evaluation of market conditions, share price, other investment priorities, and other factors. The share repurchase authorizations have no
expiration date.

As a result, we did not repurchase and retire any shares in open market transactions during the third quarter of fiscal 2020. In the first quarter of fiscal 2020,
we repurchased and retired 474,684 shares in open market transactions for approximately $45.3 million at an average price of $95.34 per share. In the first
three quarters of fiscal 2019, we repurchased and retired 1,607,920 shares in open market transactions for approximately $147.5 million, at an average price
of $91.71 per share.

The total remaining capacity under all remaining repurchase authorizations as of September 26, 2020 was approximately $650.4 million.

Dividends

We paid a cash dividend of $0.60 per share in the first quarter of fiscal 2020. On May 1, 2020, in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, we suspended
our quarterly cash dividend. The Board of Directors will evaluate future dividend declarations based on a number of factors, including business conditions,
our financial performance, and other considerations. In each of the first three quarters of fiscal 2019, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.50 per share.

Provisions in our secured revolving credit facility have the effect of restricting our ability to pay cash dividends on, or make future repurchases of, our
common stock through the date we delivers our financial statements and associated certificates relating to the third fiscal quarter of 2021, and could have
the effect of restricting our ability to do so thereafter, as described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 2019 fiscal year ended December 28, 2019,
and in Note 8, Long-Term Debt.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Seasonality

Absent the effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic, we experience seasonal fluctuations in our sales and profitability due to the timing of certain
holidays and key retail shopping periods, which generally has resulted in lower sales and gross profit in the first half of our fiscal year versus the second
half of the fiscal year. Accordingly, our results of operations during the first half of the year may not be indicative of the results we expect for the full year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

Our critical accounting policies and estimates are described under the heading "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" in Item 7 of our most recent
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 2019 fiscal year ended December 28, 2019. Our critical accounting policies and estimates are those policies that
require management's most difficult and subjective judgments and may result in the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and estimates include: revenue recognition and accounts receivable allowance, inventory, goodwill and
tradename, accrued expenses, loss contingencies, accounting for income taxes, foreign currency, employee benefit plans, and stock-based compensation
arrangements. There have been no material changes in these critical accounting policies and estimates from those described in our most recent Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Currency and Interest Rate Risks

In the operation of our business, we have market risk exposures including those related to foreign currency and interest rates. We employ various strategies
to attempt to minimize our exposure to these risks.

Currency Risk

We contract for production with third parties, primarily in Asia. While these contracts are stated in U.S. dollars, there can be no assurance that the cost for
the future production of our products will not be affected by exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the local currencies of these
contractors. Due to the number of currencies involved, we cannot quantify the potential impact that future currency fluctuations may have on our results of
operations in future periods.

The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries that are denominated in functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars
using period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and weighted-average exchange rates for revenues and expenses. Gains and losses resulting from
translating assets and liabilities from the functional currency to U.S. dollars are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Our foreign subsidiaries typically record sales denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which are then translated into U.S. dollars using
weighted-average exchange rates. The changes in foreign currency exchange rates in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, compared to the third quarter of fiscal
2019, had a $2.0 million unfavorable effect on our International segment's net sales.

Fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies may affect our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.
Transactions by our foreign subsidiaries may be denominated in a currency other than the entity's functional currency. Foreign currency transaction gains
and losses also include the impact of noncurrent intercompany loans with foreign subsidiaries that are marked to market. In our statement of operations,
these gains and losses are recorded within Other (income) expense, net.

As part of our overall strategy to manage the level of exposure to the risk of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, primarily between the U.S. dollar
and currencies of Canada and Mexico, we may use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge purchases that are made in U.S. dollars, primarily for
inventory purchases for our Canadian and Mexican operations. As part of this hedging strategy, we may use foreign currency forward exchange contracts
with maturities of less than 12 months to provide coverage throughout the hedging period. As of September 26, 2020, there were no open foreign currency
forward exchange contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

Our operating results are subject to risk from interest rate fluctuations on our secured revolving credit facility, which carries variable interest rates.
Weighted-average variable rate borrowings outstanding for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 were $288.3 million. An increase or decrease of 1% in the
effective interest rate on that amount would increase or decrease our annual pre-tax interest expense by approximately $2.9 million.

Other Risks

We enter into various purchase order commitments with our suppliers. We generally can cancel these arrangements, although in some instances we may be
subject to a termination charge reflecting a percentage of work performed prior to cancellation.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the
period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of September 26, 2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The principal executive officer and principal financial officer also conducted an evaluation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
("Internal Control") to determine whether any changes in Internal Control occurred during the fiscal
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quarter ended September 26, 2020 that have materially affected, or which are reasonably likely to materially affect, Internal Control.

There were no changes in the Company’s Internal Control that materially affected, or were likely to materially affect, such control over financial reporting
during the fiscal quarter ended September 26, 2020.
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PART II

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is subject to various claims and pending or threatened lawsuits in the normal course of our business. The Company is not currently a party to
any legal proceedings that it believes would have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors described in our Form 10-K for the 2019 fiscal year ended December 28, 2019, other than as set out
in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 28, 2020, in Part II. under the heading "Item 1A -- Risk Factors".

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Share Repurchases

The following table provides information about share repurchases during the third quarter of fiscal 2020:

Period

Total number
of shares

purchased(1)  
Average price paid per

share  

Total number of shares
purchased as part of
publicly announced
plans or programs(2)  

Approximate
dollar value of shares

that may
yet be

purchased
under the plans
or programs(3)

June 28, 2020 through July 25, 2020 —  —  —  $ 650,447,970

        
July 26, 2020 through August 22, 2020 1,744  $ 79.67  —  $ 650,447,970

        
August 23, 2020 through September 26, 2020 —  —  —  $ 650,447,970

        
Total 1,744  $ 79.67  —   
(1) All of the shares purchased during the current quarter represent shares of our common stock surrendered by our employees to satisfy required tax withholding upon the vesting of restricted

stock awards.

(2) In the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company announced, that in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, it suspended its common stock share repurchase program. Refer to the open
market repurchases as disclosed in Note 7, Common Stock, to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) Under share repurchase authorizations approved by our Board of Directors.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

N/A

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

N/A

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

N/A
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibits

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Carter's, Inc., as amended on May 22, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Carter's, Inc.'s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2017).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Carter's, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Carter's, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 23, 2017). 

31.1 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) and 13a-15(f)/15d-15(f) Certification.
31.2 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) and 13a-15(f)/15d-15(f) Certification.
32 Section 1350 Certification.

Exhibit No. (101).INS XBRL Instance Document - the instant document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document

Exhibit No. (101).SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Exhibit No. (101).CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Exhibit No. (101).DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Exhibit No. (101).LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Exhibit No. (101).PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Exhibit No. 104 The cover page from this Current Report on Form 10-Q formatted as Inline XBRL
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SIGNATURES

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on their behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CARTER’S, INC.

October 23, 2020 /s/ MICHAEL D. CASEY

 Michael D. Casey

 Chief Executive Officer

 (Principal Executive Officer)

October 23, 2020 /s/ RICHARD F. WESTENBERGER

 Richard F. Westenberger

 Executive Vice President and

 Chief Financial Officer

 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael D. Casey, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carter’s, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

October 23, 2020 /s/ MICHAEL D. CASEY

 Michael D. Casey
 Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Richard F. Westenberger, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carter’s, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

October 23, 2020 /s/ RICHARD F. WESTENBERGER

 Richard F. Westenberger
 Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

Each of the undersigned in the capacity indicated hereby certifies that, to his knowledge, this Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 26, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained
in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carter’s, Inc.

October 23, 2020 /s/ MICHAEL D. CASEY

 Michael D. Casey
 Chief Executive Officer

October 23, 2020 /s/ RICHARD F. WESTENBERGER

 Richard F. Westenberger
 Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certifications are being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and are not being filed as part of the Report on Form 10-Q or as a
separate disclosure document.

 

 

 


